#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

### THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

V

CASE NO. SC01-724 TFB NO. 2000-11,891(13F)

## DOMENIC L. MASSARI, III,

Respondent.

### RESPONDENT'S CORRECTED INITIAL BRIEF

John A. Weiss WEISS & ETKIN Attorney Number 0185229 2937 B-2 Kerry Forest Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32308 (850) 893-5854 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, DOMENIC L. MASSARI, III, will be referred to throughout this brief as either Respondent or Mr. Massari. Appellee, The Florida Bar, will be referred to as such or as the Bar.

References to the transcript of the final hearing will be by the symbol "TR" followed by the appropriate page number. References to the Bar's exhibits will be by the symbol "B.Ex." References to the Respondent's exhibits will be by the symbol "R.Ex.". References to the Report of Referee will be by the symbol "RR".

### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is a case of original jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 15 of the Constitution of the State of Florida.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The referee below concluded that Respondent violated rules 4-1.4(b), 4-1.15(a) and (b), 4-3.4(b) and 4-8.4(a) and (c) of the Rules of Discipline. He concluded that Respondent did not violate rules 4-3.3(a), 4-4.1(a) and 4-8.4(b). He recommended that Respondent be disbarred. Respondent seeks review of the referee's factual findings leading to his conclusion that the rule violations occurred. Respondent further seeks review of the recommendation that he be disbarred.

The referee's findings of fact, while disputed by Respondent, are set forth below:

Respondent represented Ronald D. Martinez and his Florida corporation, Martinez Constructionand Design, Inc., in a civil case

involving a contract dispute over monies owed for a residence that Mr. Martinez' corporation had built for a Dr. And Mrs. Steen. September, 1997, Mr. Martinez executed document titled "Contractor's Final Affidavit" pursuant to the litigation. (Bar's Exhibit 1.) Prior to the case settling, Mr. Martinez has paid Respondent \$7,000.00 in fees. On February 14, 2000, the case settled at mediation. Steens agreed that Mr. Martinez' company would receive \$30,000.00, from funds held in escrow by First American Title Insurance Company. Martinez and Respondent agreed that, receipt of the \$30,000.00, Respondent would receive an additional \$5,000.00 in legal fees, (if any), to conclude costs For his part, Mr. Martinez representation. agreed to release the claim of lien that his corporation had placed on the Steens' real property. The Steens' counsel, Moody & Shea, P.A., provided Respondent with a blank form Satisfaction and Release of Lien, to effectuate this aspect of the agreement.

Someone other than Ronald Martinez signed Mr. Martinez's name to the Satisfaction and Release of Lien. Respondent's longtime secretary, notarized the Judith Herbert, document, attesting that Mr. Martinez has indeed affixed his signature to it on March 8, 2000. On March 13, 2000, Respondent traveled to First American Title Insurance Company and presented the forged Satisfaction and Release of Lien to Donna Durbin, the office manager. The undersigned specifically finds that Ronald A. Martinez did not sign the Satisfaction and Release of Lien on March 8, 2000; moreover, at no time did Mr. Martinez grant any power of attorney to Respondent, nor did he otherwise authorize Respondent to sign any legal document in his Ms. Durbin accepted the document Respondent presented and she gave Respondent a check for \$30,000.000, made payable to Martinez Construction and Design, Inc.

Though the check did not identify him as a payee, Respondent indorsed and negotiated the check and deposited the funds into his client

trust account on the day he received it, March 13, 2000. Respondent did not notify Mr. Martinez of his receipt of the funds into his trust account, nor did he inform Mr. Martinez generally of the true facts surrounding how and when he obtained the funds. Within a short time, Respondent made five separate disbursements encompassing entire the \$30,000.00, for his own purposes. disbursements were as follows: 1) On March 13, 2000, Respondent disbursed \$7,238.30 as his "fee" for the Martinez representation; 2) on March 16, 2000, Respondent disbursed \$4.500.00 to himself; 3) on March 24, 2000, Respondent disbursed \$9,711.70 from the Martinez ledger account to another client ledger account, ostensibly to refund fees paid to him previously by another client; 4) on March 28, 2000, Respondent disbursed \$7,800.00 to himself; and 5) on March 30, 2000, Respondent disbursed the remaining \$750.00 to himself. Respondent admits that these disbursements were made for his own personal use or benefit. Respondent failed to advise Mr. Martinez of the true surrounding his use and disbursement of the funds, at any time. The undersigned finds that Mr. Martinez was entitled to receive the funds in March, 2000, when Respondent received them.

When Mr. Martinez did not receive his settlement proceeds in a timely manner, he asked Respondent about it, but did not receive a satisfactory response. Then sometime in May, 2000, Mr. Martinez expressed his concerns to an attorneyfriend of his, Larry Rardon, who suggested that he contact the title company holding the money. Acting on this suggestion, Mr. Martinez called First American Title Insurance Company in Tampa, Florida. The escrow assistant, Kirby Harlow, told Mr. Martinez that his account showed a zero balance, and that his proceeds had been disbursed back in March. Mr. Martinez then traveled to the title company, on or about May 26, 2000, and met with the office manager, Ms. Durbin, and Ms. Harlow. They showed him the Satisfaction and Release of Lien that Respondent had delivered to the title company (and which the title company had caused to be recorded in the official records). Mr. Martinez told Ms. Durbin and Ms. Harlow that the notarized signature on the document was not his. They also showed Mr. Martinez the negotiated check, and he declared that he had not indorsed or negotiated the check. Mr. Durbin then notified the Steens' legal counsel, Moody & Shea, P.A., regarding Mr. Martinez' declarations. Moody & Shea, P.A. contacted the Tampa Police Department and The Florida Bar, both of which initiated investigations.

2000, Respondent deposited On June 13, \$24,200.00 back into the client ledger account of Martinez Construction & Design, Inc. On that same day, Respondent paid \$24,200.00 to Mr. Martinez, thus retaining \$5,800.00 as his fee. Respondent and/or his staff prepared a letter addressed to Sergeant C.J. Waters of the Tampa Police Department, which Respondent wanted Mr. Martinez to sign. The evidence is in dispute regarding the intent of the letter. In any event, Mr. Martinez, satisfied to have received his money, did not wish to see criminal charges pressed against Respondent, and so informed the police, which ultimately did not pursue the matter either.

On October 3, 2000, pursuant to the investigation, Respondent and his counsel met with assistant staff counsel, Brett A. Geer of The Florida Bar, at the Bar offices in Tampa. Respondent presented Mr. Geer with a document titled "Martinez Escrow Instructions." Exhibit 10.) That document contains a notarized signature of Ronald A. Martinez, as well as Respondent's notarized signature. Respondent attempted to rely on this notarized documents as a sort of grant of authority from Mr. Martinez himself, to explain his conduct involving his receipt, possession, and use of Mr. Martinez' proceeds. The "Martinez Escrow Instructions" recites that the document was signed on February 14, 2000; however, the undersigned specifically finds that Mr. Martinez did not sign that document on that date, or on any other. signature of Ronald A. Martinez appearing on the "Martinez Instructions" Escrow is

transposition of his actual signature appearing on Bar's Exhibit 1, the Contractor's Final Affidavit. As such, it must be concluded that the "Martinez Escrow Instructions" document is fraudulent. Though no direct proof was adduced showing who was responsible for concocting the document, the undersigned finds that Respondent is the only person who had motive and reason for transposing the signatures. The fact that the transposed signature appears on the document is evidence of a deliberate and knowing fact.

The referee based his factual findings on the testimony of nine witnesses and numerous exhibits tendered by the parties at final hearing. A summary of the testimony of the witnesses follows:

#### Ronald D. Martinez

Mr. Martinez has been a licensed certified general contractor since September 1972. He has designed over 1,000 homes and has built at least 80. He received a degree in building construction from the University of Florida in June 1972. TR19,20,93.

Mr. Martinez met Respondent some years prior to the initiation of the Steen litigation when he was referred to the Massaris by a fellow builder to design renovations for the Massari home. Although the Massaris paid for it, the renovation was never done. Subsequently, Mr. Martinez designed a new home for the Massaris and was paid for that work also. It, too, was never built. TR24,25,96,97.

In 1998 Mr. Martinez renovated the bathroom in the Massari household. On direct he testified that he "just charged them for labor and material . . . .," including the labor of two of his

brothers, and that his charges amounted to approximately \$2,000.00. Mr. Martinez testified that there was an agreement that they would settle up his charges when his litigation against the Steens was completed and that he never submitted a bill to the Massaris. TR26. Mr. Martinez acknowledged that the Massaris paid the subcontractors and the material contractors themselves. TR97.

Mr. Martinez testified that he first billed the Massaris for the renovation in June 2000. He did not keep a copy of the bill. TR98. Mr. Massari denied receiving the bill.

Mr. Massari was retained by Mr. Martinez in 1997 to represent him in litigation against Dr. and Mrs. Steen surrounding the construction of their home. The Steens alleged in the suit that they filed against Mr. Martinez that he had filed a false affidavit because he was bound by a fixed price contract dated June 18, 1996 that Mr. Martinez had filed with the bank. R.Ex.3. Mr. Martinez filed a counter claim based on a cost-plus contract allegedly agreed to by the parties bearing the same date. Mr. Martinez testified that the parties agreed to a cost-plus arrangement and that they only filed the fixed price contract with the bank for the purpose of securing financing for the Steens. Mr. Martinez testified that "the bank would not accept the cost-plus" contract. TR95. When asked if he "filed a false document with the bank for financial gain" Mr. Martinez answered "yes." TR96.

Mr. Martinez also testified that the fixed price contract, although dated June 18, 1996, was not signed until "at least two weeks . . ." after that date. It was signed solely to make the bank think the project was a fixed price contract rather than a costplus (which the bank would not accept) project. TR129.

During rebuttal, Mr. Martinez testified that both contracts were on file with the bank. He did not, however, testify that anybody at the bank knew that the fixed price contract was a ruse. TR469,470.

Mr. Martinez acknowledged that his litigation with the Steens was settled after mediation on February 14, 2000. He was to receive \$30,000.00 of the disputed funds that was held in escrow prior to that date. He testified that he had paid \$7,000.00 to Mr. Massari prior to mediation. Mr. Martinez testified that Mr. Massari told him the fees coming out of the \$30,000.00 settlement would be \$5,000.00. TR29,30.

The mediation on February 14, 2000 began about 1:00 p.m. (TR31, 32) and lasted "five hours plus." TR33. Mr. Martinez drove his truck and took Mr. Massari with him. Mr. Martinez testified that they returned to Mr. Massari's office after dark and that Mr. Massari just "hopped out" of his truck and that Mr. Martinez drove off. TR34.

Mr. Martinez testified that he waited about 30 days after the mediation and, having heard nothing from Mr. Massari, called him two or three times. Mr. Massari returned the third call and allegedly

said that the settlement proceeds were being held up because the parties were waiting on the judge. TR34,36. About two weeks later Mr. Martinez again spoke to Mr. Massari and allegedly was told the same thing. TR36.

Mr. Martinez testified that he had paid some of the subcontractors on the job approximately \$15,000.00 out of his own pocket, because he didn't want "to ruin my rapport with them . . ."

TR37,39. Mr. Martinez acknowledged on cross examination, however, that he did not pay any of the subcontractors out of the \$24,200.00 that he received from Mr. Massari on June 13, 2000. TR100.

Mr. Martinez testified that he spoke to a "attorney friend", Larry Rardon, about his not receiving the settlement proceeds from his mediation. Based on Mr. Rardon's suggestion, Mr. Martinez called First American Title Company and spoke to employee Kirby Harlow. TR39,40. Mr. Martinez testified that it was during this conversation in late May that he first learned that First American had received a signed release of lien and had disbursed the \$30,000.00 held in escrow. TR40,41. Subsequent to the initial telephone conversation, Mr. Martinez visited the First American Title Company's offices on May 26, 2000 and saw, he claims, for the first time the release of lien and the check disbursing the funds. He advised First American employees that it was not his signature on the release of lien and that he had not endorsed the check. TR40,41.

The release of lien was dated March 8, 2000 and was notarized by Judith Hebert, Mr. Massari's secretary. Mr. Martinez testified that he did not sign the release of lien, that he was not in Mr. Massari's office on March 8<sup>th</sup> and he said that he had never seen the release of lien prior to being shown it in the title company's office. TR51.

While at First American's offices on May 26<sup>th</sup>, Mr. Martinez overheard Ms. Durbin's end of the telephone conversation with Mr. Massari. Ms. Durbin told Mr. Martinez that Mr. Massari said that he was still waiting on the judge to approve the release of the funds. TR52,54. Mr. Martinez testified that Ms. Durbin did not indicate to Mr. Massari that Mr. Martinez was in the room when they were speaking. TR56,107.

Mr. Martinez said that two weeks after visiting the title company he delivered a hand written one or two paragraph letter to Mr. Massari that supposedly stated that Mr. Martinez "needed to get paid" and that if he didn't receive his money "by X day, then I would start charging interest." He hand-delivered the letter but did not retain a copy of it for his records. TR56,57.

Shortly after his May 26, 2000 visit to First American Title Company, Mr. Martinez received a telephone call from a police office investigating the allegedly fraudulent signature on the release of lien. Mr. Martinez stated that he told the police that he did not want to file a complaint. TR58.

According to Mr. Martinez, he was paid \$24,200.00 by Mr. Massari on either June 13 or June 14, 2000. Mr. Martinez testified that the additional \$800.00 over the \$5,000.00 that he expected to pay to Mr. Massari was the result of Mr. Massari allegedly charging him half of the \$1,600.00 in litigation expenses that were outstanding. TR58,59. Mr. Martinez stated that he reminded Mr. Massari of the outstanding bill for \$2,000.00 on that date. Mr. Massari allegedly said he could not deduct the \$2,000.00 from his fees because the bathroom renovation was personal and the fees being paid to Mr. Massari were business. TR60.

According to Mr. Martinez, the June 26, 2000 letter (B.Ex.7) was the second letter to the Bar that Mr. Massari had asked him to sign. He signed the second letter after being called by Mr. Massari and being told that the latter had a partial check on the \$2,000.00 for Mr. Martinez. Mr. Martinez said that he arrived at the end of the day, that a notary public was about to leave and that it had to be signed immediately. Mr. Martinez stated that he signed it without being given time to read it. Notwithstanding that statement, Mr. Martinez took the original letter with him because "I wanted to proofread it." TR63. The letter was addressed to Sergeant Waters at the TPD. Mr. Martinez stopped by a copy store to photocopy the letter and made various changes on the copies. On July 10, 2000, Mr. Martinez delivered the letter to Sergeant Waters without revisions.

TR68. Mr. Martinez handed the letter to Sergeant Waters but told him there were "a lot of untruths in it." TR70.

Mr. Martinez also testified that once he received the proceeds from the Steen litigation, that he stopped by the title company to let them know that he had received his funds and to tell them that if anybody ever asked, he would say that it was his signature on the March 8, 2000 release given to the title company. TR69.

Mr. Martinez did specifically remember telling Mr. Massari to do whatever he needed to do to settle the litigation. TR73.

During direct examination, Mr. Martinez stated that the sentence in paragraph five of his letter to Sergeant Waters that stated "There has been no forgery or unauthorized conduct" was not a true statement. TR78. Mr. Martinez did acknowledge, however, that when he signed the June 26, 2000 letter before notary public Skinner, that she had him raise his hand and swear an oath prior to her attesting to his signature. TR79.

When presented with a copy of the February 14, 2000 escrow instructions, B.Ex.10, Mr. Martinez acknowledged that his signature appeared on the document but he claimed that he did not sign it. TR84. He testified that the first time that he saw that document was when it was shown to him by Bar Counsel on December 12, 2000. TR84. (The parties stipulated that the Bar received a copy of the February 14, 2000 escrow instructions when it was handed to Bar Counsel on October 3, 2000. TR82.)

Mr. Martinez denied virtually every statement in that agreement: he denied meeting Mr. Muller, he denied discussing investment opportunities with either Mr. Muller or Mr. Massari; he denied knowing that his bill for fees and costs in the Steen litigation was \$7, 238.30; and he denied that he agreed to any investments being made with the Steen proceeds at a return of 1% per week. Finally, Mr. Martinez denied ever telling Mr. Massari that he did not want Mr. Massari discussing his financial affairs with any of Mr. Martinez's creditors or other parties. TR85-87.

During cross examination Mr. Martinez acknowledged that although he gave an affidavit to the Florida Bar regarding his dealings with Mr. Massari in August 2000 and a sworn statement to the Bar on December 12, 2000, he never mentioned the \$1000.00 that he received from Mr. Massari on June 26, 2000, the date that he signed the Sergeant Waters' letter under oath before a notary. TR98. Mr. Martinez did not mention to Sergeant Waters that he had demanded \$2000.00 from Mr. Massari and had received \$1000.00 of that sum at the time he signed that letter. TR99.

Mr. Martinez also testified to the referee that he used none of the \$24,200.00 that he received from Mr. Massari on June 13, 2000 to pay any of the subcontractors that had not been paid for the Steen house. TR100.

Mr. Martinez specifically recalled having breakfast meetings with Mr. and Mrs. Massari on Saturday mornings while doing work for them, meetings at which Mr. Massari usually left early, then having two or three working lunches alone with Mrs. Massari. TR104,105. Mr. Martinez also testified that he and his wife had been separated for two and one half years at the time of the final hearing. TR131.

When questioned during cross examination when he learned that Mr. Massari was being investigated by the TPD, Mr. Martinez could not remember whether it was before or after he received his \$24,200.00 from Mr. Massari. TR109. Mr. Martinez did acknowledge, however, that Mr. Massari never told him that he could not have the \$24,200.00 if he did not sign any document for to the TPD. TR113,114.

Mr. Martinez did acknowledge that it was July 10, 2000 when he hand-delivered the unmarked June 26, 2000 to Sergeant Waters. TR118.

On page 119 of the transcript of the testimony of final hearing, the following questions and answers took place:

- Q. Okay. So you gave a police officer in the course of a criminal investigation a letter that you signed under oath that you knew was untrue?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Okay. And this was some twelve or fourteen days after you signed the letter, correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Okay. I'd like to have those back, please. Mr. Martinez, did I understand you to testify this morning that you told Mrs. Kirby that if anybody asked you about whether you actually signed the satisfaction and release, that you would just say that you had signed it?
- A. If I received my check, I would tell people-I would say that was my signature. Yes.

Mr. Martinez also acknowledged that Mr. Massari's June 26, 2000 \$1,000.00 check had cleared prior to the time that he went to see Sergeant Waters. TR120.

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