IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Case No. SC01-724
TFB No. 2000-11,891(13F)

Vs.

DOMENIC L. MASSARI III,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

Thomas Edward DeBerg Assistant Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Suite C-49 Tampa Airport, Marriott Hotel Tampa, Florida 33607 (813)875-9821 Florida Bar No. 0521515

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

1998, Respondent had refunded \$300,000. TR439. Respondent testified that the matter related to the April 14 order was settled at mediation, and that he was under no financial pressure as a result of the court orders. TR443-44.

In attacking Mr. Martinez' credibility, Respondent makes much of Mr. Martinez' filing a false construction contract with the bank. Mr. Martinez freely admitted at the final hearing that he filed the fixed price contract for the purpose of securing financing for the Steens, even though the actual agreement was cost plus. TR95-96. However, he testified that he and the Steens signed a cost plus contract for the construction of their home, and that he had previously built several houses financed by First of American Bank using cost plus contracts. He further testified that the Bank changed its policy to require a fixed price contract; the Steens requested Mr. Martinez to sign the fixed price contract so they could obtain financing, knowing that the agreement was actually going to be cost plus. TR469-70.

Respondent claims that Mr. Martinez' handling of the June 26, 2000 letter to Sergeant Waters and his inconsistent statements to the Bar are evidence of Mr. Martinez' lack of credibility. Respondent also points to Mr. Martinez' statement to First American Title personnel that, if anyone questioned his signature on the release, he would just say that the signature was his. The referee was aware of this

information when making his findings. All of these actions are consistent with Mr. Martinez' reluctance to press charges against the Respondent. Mr. Martinez explained that he just wanted his money, and when he finally received it, that was the end of the matter as far as he was concerned. TR81. Mr. Martinez did not want to file a complaint with the Tampa Police Department, and he did not file a grievance with the Bar. Mr. Martinez' actions in connection with the letter to Sergeant Waters show that, while he may have wanted to help the Respondent, he was uncomfortable about being asked to give the police a letter containing untruthful statements. He took the signed letter with him, made copies of it, and tried unsuccessfully to revise the letter. He finally submitted the signed letter to Sergeant Waters, explaining that much of the letter was untrue. TR69-70, TFB Ex. 7,8,9. Contrary to Respondent's assertion, Mr. Martinez did not lie when he told Sergeant Waters that the letter contained untruths. The letter did contain untruthful statements. For example, the statement in the letter that "there has been no forgery or unauthorized conduct" was not a true statement. TR78.

Respondent would like this Court to believe that the case before the Referee was "a swearing contest" between Respondent and Mr. Martinez. As the Bar has pointed out, the Referee's findings and conclusions are supported by substantial documentary evidence and the testimony of a number of witnesses in addition to

Mr. Martinez. This Court addressed the issue of conflicting testimony in *Florida Bar v. Stalnaker*, 485 So.2d 815, 816 (Fla. 1986), stating "the evidence presented before the referee boil[ed] down to a credibility contest" between the Respondent and his law partner. This Court stated, "The referee listened to and observed both of them, and, as our fact finder, resolved the conflicts in the evidence. Our review of the record discloses support for the referee's findings, and, therefore, we will not disturb them." *Id.* (citation omitted). The Referee weighed the credibility of the witnesses, as well as the documentary evidence. The record is replete with evidence supporting the Referee's findings and this Court should not disturb them.

ISSUE II: DISBARMENT IS THE PRESUMED SANCTION FOR MISUSE OF CLIENT FUNDS, THEREFORE, THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION OF DISBARMENT SHOULD BE APPROVED.

The Referee recommended that Respondent be disbarred from the practice of law for five years. While this Court has the ultimate responsibility to order a disciplinary sanction, a referee's recommendation of discipline is to be afforded deference unless the recommendation is clearly erroneous or not supported by the evidence. *Florida Bar v. Niles*, 644 So.2d 504, 506-07 (Fla. 1994). "Therefore, the referee's disciplinary recommendation is presumptively correct and will be followed unless clearly off the mark." *Florida Bar v. Vining*, 707 So.2d 670, 673 (Fla. 1998).

Respondent argues that the Referee's recommendation has no "reasonable basis in existing case law" and should therefore be rejected by this Court. The Bar disagrees and maintains that disbarment is called for in a case involving the intentional misappropriation of client funds, especially where it is accomplished by forgery, fraud, and a misuse of the judicial system.

"[F]or decades this Court has routinely stated that the presumptive penalty for the misuse of client funds is disbarment." *Florida Bar v. Spears*, 786 So.2d 516, 519 (Fla. 2001). In *Florida Bar. v. Tillman*, 682 So.2d 542 (Fla. 1996), this Court disbarred the Respondent for misappropriating client funds and commingling

client funds with his own. Tillman paid personal expenses using trust funds, drew excessive fees and costs, and failed to pay clients' medical expenses with funds supplied to her to do so. Although Tillman had no prior disciplinary history and had been practicing only a short time, disbarment was appropriate because she had a dishonest or selfish motive, had engaged in a pattern of misconduct, including multiple offenses, she refused to acknowledge the wrongful nature of the misconduct, and lacked remorse. This Court found that the mitigation was not adequate to reduce the discipline and approved the Referee's recommendation of disbarment, stating, "the misuse of client funds is one of the most serious offenses a lawyer can commit. Upon a finding of misuse or misappropriation, there is a presumption that disbarment is the appropriate punishment." Id. at 543 (quoting Florida Bar v. Schiller, 537 So.2d 992, 993 (Fla. 1989)). All of the factors in Tillman are present in the instant case, with the exception of practicing law for only a short period of time. Actually, the fact that Respondent has practiced law since 1973 is viewed as an aggravating factor, giving Respondent one more aggravating factor and one less mitigating factor than Tillman.

In *Florida Bar v. Korones*, 752 So.2d 586 (Fla. 2000), the respondent misappropriated funds from his uncle's estate, of which he was the personal representative, for his own use. He then submitted a false final accounting to the

other residual beneficiaries. The referee recommended a 90-day suspension, citing a number of mitigating factors, including personal and emotional problems, good faith effort to make restitution, full and free disclosure to the disciplinary board, cooperative attitude toward the proceedings, good character and reputation, mental or physical disability or impairment, and remorse. Aggravating factors were a dishonest or selfish motive and substantial experience in the practice of law. The respondent's disciplinary history consisted of two private reprimands which were not considered as aggravating factors because they were too remote in time. *Id.* at 589.

This Court found that a 90-day suspension was "far too lenient" and, instead, disbarred Korones for a period of five years. This Court stated that, in determining the discipline to be imposed in a case involving the misappropriation of funds, it is important to look at the circumstances surrounding the misappropriation:

In the instant case, we are faced with a situation in which an attorney with an exemplary career has intentionally and wrongfully misappropriated money from clients and diverted it for his personal use. . . . Further, this attorney affirmatively filed a false accounting with the beneficiaries of his uncle's estate and paid his son so that he would not be reported to the Bar. The latter actions clearly indicate that the attorney was well aware of the wrongfulness of his conduct.

752 So.2d at 591.

Like Korones, the Respondent misappropriated client funds for his personal use, and then created a fraudulent document to cover up his misconduct. As the Referee stated in his report, the transposed signature appearing on the Martinez Escrow Instructions was "evidence of a deliberate and knowing act." RR4. Like Korones, Respondent has many years experience in the practice of law and no prior disciplinary record. Unlike Korones, Respondent did **not** display remorse or a cooperative attitude, and did **not** suffer from personal and health problems. Respondent's misconduct is similar to that of Korones and warrants disbarment.

The Referee found that Respondent presented a forged release to the title company to obtain his client's settlement funds. In *Florida Bar v. Roman*, 526 So.2d 60 (Fla. 1988), an attorney was disbarred for using fraudulent means to convert client funds to his own use. Roman, who served as personal representative of an estate, forged an affidavit portraying a Frank McColm as the deceased's nephew and sole heir. Roman filed the affidavit with the court who declared Mr. McColm the sole beneficiary of the estate. Roman then converted the assets of the estate to his own use. The respondent had no prior disciplinary record. The referee recommended a three-year suspension, citing as mitigating factors that Roman suffered from mental health problems and took prescription tranquilizers, had already been punished through the criminal justice system, was cooperative

and remorseful, and made restitution. *Id.* at 62. This Court disbarred Roman, finding especially egregious the fact that he used deceit to effectuate the theft, and stating, "either offense is sufficiently grave to justify disbarment." *Id.*

The facts of *Florida Bar v. Graham*, 605 So.2d 53 (Fla. 1992), are also analogous to the instant case. Graham misappropriated over \$12,000.00 from a client's settlement proceeds, lied in a letter to the Bar about the disposition of the funds, testified falsely under oath at a disciplinary hearing, and violated trust account regulations by commingling trust funds. Despite Graham's lack of a prior disciplinary history and the fact that he had taken steps to correct the trust account shortages, this Court approved the referee's recommendation of disbarment, finding that "the mitigating factors . . . do not outweigh the presumption that disbarment is the appropriate discipline." *Id.* at 56.

While Respondent's misuse of client funds **alone** warrants disbarment, his creation and use of fraudulent documents also warrants disbarment. In *Florida Bar v. Kickliter*, 559 So.2d 1123 (Fla. 1990), this Court disbarred a lawyer who forged his client's signature on a will and submitted it for probate, notwithstanding the absence of a selfish or dishonest motive. Kickliter prepared a new will for his client, but the client died the next day, prior to seeing or signing the new will. In an attempt to effectuate his client's wishes, Kickliter signed his client's name on

the will, had two of his employees witness the forged signature, notarized it himself, and subsequently submitted the will for probate. The Referee recommended a three-year suspension, citing substantial mitigation, including absence of a dishonest or selfish motive, a cooperative attitude, good character and reputation, remorse, and the imposition of criminal penalties. This Court, applying the general rule of strict discipline against attorneys who deliberately and knowingly perpetrate a fraud on the court, disbarred Kickliter for five years. *Id.* at 1124. In contrast to Kickliter, who acted out of unselfish motives, the Respondent in this case was motivated entirely by self-interest. With the intent to deceive the title company, Respondent used a forged release to obtain his client's settlement funds which he disbursed to himself for personal use. He then manufactured the "Martinez Escrow Instructions" in an attempt to authorize his prior misconduct. The Bar submits that Respondent's misconduct is far more egregious than that of the attorney in Kickliter.

This Court has repeatedly recognized fraud and forgery as serious offenses, requiring the imposition of harsh punishment:

Generally, the Court has imposed harsh punishment on lawyers who intentionally lie under oath, lie to the court, **or present false or forged documents**. Indeed, this Court has stated that no ethical violation is more damaging to the legal profession and process, and "[a]n officer of the court who knowingly and deliberately seeks to

corrupt the legal process can logically expect to be excluded from that process."

Florida Bar v. Klausner, 721 So.2d 720, 721(Fla. 1998) (emphasis added) (quoting Florida Bar v. Rightmyer, 616 So.2d 953, 955 (Fla. 1993)). See also Florida Bar v. Spann, 682 So.2d 1070, 1074 (Fla. 1996) ("Authorizing the forging of a signature and the subsequent notarization of the signature, knowing it to be a forgery, constitute serious misconduct."); Florida Bar v. Cramer, 678 So.2d 1278, 1282 (Fla. 1996) (perpetrating fraud on financial institution by signing another's name on lease-purchase agreement for office equipment warrants disbarment).

Respondent points to several cases in which attorneys were suspended rather than disbarred for misappropriation of trust funds. In those cases, the Court found mitigating factors justifying an exception to the general rule of disbarment for misuse of client funds. Those factors are not present in the instant case. For example, in *Florida Bar v. Wolf*, 605 So.2d 461 (Fla. 1992), an attorney who misused client trust funds received a two-year suspension. Wolf fully cooperated with the Bar auditor and suffered from diminished capacity at the time of the misconduct. In *Florida Bar v. Schiller*, 537 So.2d 992 (Fla. 1989), Schiller used client trust funds for personal use and later covered the shortage. This Court suspended Schiller for three years, finding that the presumption of disbarment was overcome by the fact that no clients were damaged and Schiller "seemed to be

genuinely remorseful." *Id.* at 993. In *Florida Bar v. Stark*, 616 So.2d 41, 43 (Fla. 1993), the attorney showed "significant remorse." None of these attorneys used forged documents to obtain use of client funds. The only mitigating factor found by the Referee was Respondent's lack of prior discipline. RR5. That is insufficient mitigation to rebut the presumption of disbarment.

Respondent's reliance on Florida Bar v. Borja, 609 So.2d 21 (Fla. 1992), is similarly misplaced. Borja was found guilty of numerous trust accounting violations and failed to uncover his employees' theft of client funds. The Bar argued that Borja and/or his witnesses gave false and/or misleading testimony at the disciplinary proceeding. The referee found that Borja was so out of touch with Bar accounting procedures "that he did not KNOWINGLY provide false testimony during the disciplinary proceeding." *Id.* at 22 (emphasis in original). In aggravation, the referee considered Borja's extensive disciplinary history. In mitigation, the referee considered that no client was injured and there was no benefit to respondent. *Id.* at 23. This Court suspended Borja for one year. Respondent's conduct does not compare to that of Borja. Respondent did not unknowingly violate trust accounting rules. Rather, he knowingly misappropriated client funds for his own benefit and using a fraudulent document.

Respondent argues that "no lawyer should be disbarred on discredited evidence," quoting State ex rel. Florida Bar v. Oxford, 127 So.2d 107, 111 (Fla. In Oxford, the respondent was found guilty of submitting false pleadings 1960). in uncontested divorce cases based on the testimony of one witness, his secretary. The secretary had completely reversed her testimony during the disciplinary proceedings. The referee found that the witness "still lies about some things" and "exaggerates and colors her story because of her animosity to the respondent." *Id.* at 110. This Court disapproved the recommended sanction of disbarment, finding that the referee's comments about the witness completely discredited her testimony. Id. at 111. In the instant case, the Referee's findings were not supported by the sole testimony of a "discredited" witness. As discussed above, the Referee's findings were supported by the testimony of Mr. Martinez, Mr. Green, Mr. Rardon, Ms. Durbin, and Ms. Harlow. The record is also replete with documentary evidence which supports the Referee's findings.

Several of the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions provide additional support for disbarment in this case. Standard 4.11 deals with the failure to preserve client property and states that "disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer intentionally or knowingly converts client property regardless of injury or potential injury." Standard 4.6 sets forth appropriate sanctions in cases where the lawyer

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